74000-8

No. 74000-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

v.

FILED
March 11, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Nicholas S.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Nicholas committed an attempted robbery.
- 2. The trial court erred by entering Finding of Fact 28, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, as to the lack of evidence of Nicholas "mov[ing] his hand back" toward the other males. CP 43.¹
- 3. The trial court erred by entering Findings of Fact 11, 12, 13, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 26, 27, 44, 45, 46, and 48, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, and as these findings rely on the erroneous identification of Nicholas. CP 41-44.
- 4. The trial court erred by entering Finding of Fact 47, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record. CP 44.
- 5. The trial court erred by entering Finding of Fact 50, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record. CP 44.
- 6. The trial court erred by entering Finding of Fact 51, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record. CP 44.

¹ The trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are attached as an appendix.

7. Federal and state due process requires juveniles to be afforded the right to a jury trial when accused of crimes.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. To convict a defendant of attempted robbery in the first degree, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt each essential element. In the absence of consistent and reliable evidence, and particularly in light of the evidence of witness inconsistency and bias, must Nicholas's conviction be reversed?
- 2. Under the federal and state constitutions, juveniles enjoyed the right to a jury trial until it was denied by the Legislature. Since that time, the distinction between juvenile and adult courts has become increasingly blurred. Juveniles face many of the same consequences adults face, without the procedural protections afforded to adults. Were Nicholas's due process rights under the federal and state constitution denied when the court failed to provide him with a jury trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 9, 2015, Matthew S. was excused from school early.

RP 142, 282-83.² A freshman at Ballard High School, Matthew had an

² Because both students are juveniles, first names or initials are used to preserve confidentiality.

appointment that day after school, so his mother had arranged to pick him up in the high school parking lot at approximately 2:00 p.m. <u>Id</u>.

Matthew later said that as he waited for his mother in the school lot, he was approached by three young men. RP 286. Matthew said that one of the youngsters demanded his Beats© headphones and then pulled a gun on him. RP 289-92. According to Matthew, this demand, accompanied by profanity, was repeated four times. Id. Matthew refused to relinquish his headphones and reportedly "calmly shoved off" and walked away from the assailant, unharmed. RP 298.

Matthew stated at trial that he did not tell anyone about this attempted gun-point robbery, including his mother, who was waiting for him in the same parking lot. RP 300. His mother, Mrs. S., verified that Matthew initially said nothing about this allegation when she picked him up at Ballard High. RP 150. The two did some errands together, including going shopping at Goodwill. RP 150-51. At some point, when Mrs. S. asked her son whether he had heard about some recent robberies at the high school, Matthew mentioned, "yeah, that happened to me before I got into the car." RP 300. Mrs. S. noted her son did not seem upset or afraid about being held up at gunpoint,

explaining that he is an "upbeat kid." RP 155. Matthew stated that the alleged incident simply "wasn't a big deal to me." RP 300.

Mrs. S. called Ballard High School, and the school security office asked for Matthew to come back to the school immediately to give a statement concerning his allegations. RP 153. Since Mrs. S. had to pick up her younger child from elementary school, she sent Matthew back to the high school from their shopping expedition on foot. RP 153-54. Neither she, nor the Ballard security staff, nor even the Seattle Police Department (SPD), seemed wary of setting Matthew back on the street with an allegedly armed assailant still out there. Matthew, as well, seemed comfortable with "jogging" over to the school. RP 304.

Meanwhile, Ballard High School security officer Craig

Plummer had been following Nicholas, a young man against whom

Plummer had already requested a no-trespassing warrant, since

Nicholas had been expelled from the high school. RP 233, 240-43.

Nicholas lives less than a block from Ballard High School. RP 583; CP

2.3 Plummer also seemed to have a longstanding grudge against

Nicholas, which became clear when Plummer threatened to "beat the

³ Nicholas's father told the court that since the family lives less than a block from Ballard High School, the 500-foot prohibition of the no-trespass order was untenable. RP 583.

hell out of' Nicholas in front of law enforcement. RP 240-43.⁴ When confronted with the SPD in-car video of his tirade, Plummer could only suggest that his statements to Nicholas were taken out of context. RP 244. Plummer also maintained he was only "trying to wise him up." RP 244.

As Plummer followed Nicholas with a criminal trespassing warrant, Plummer decided to call SPD officers in order to have Nicholas detained in connection with Matthew's allegations. RP 233, 252-53. When SPD Officer Trung Nguyen arrived, Plummer pointed out Nicholas to him, saying, "That's the young man, there." RP 252-53.

At this point, the only individual who had identified a suspect was Plummer, the security guard who wanted to "beat the hell out of" Nicholas. RP 240-43, 252-53. Matthew had not given his mother a name of an alleged perpetrator – or even a physical description — other than "male." RP 161, 167. Matthew's mother testified that the first time Matthew described this alleged assailant to her was an hour and a half after he returned home from the identification procedure at the

 $^{^4}$ At the time of the security officer's threats, Nicholas, the appellant, was 15 $\frac{1}{2}$ years old. CP 4.

high school. RP 166-67.⁵ Matthew's mother could not give the security officer the name or description of a suspect, since she did not have the information. RP 161, 164, 302. Thus, Nicholas was actually identified by security officer Plummer, not by Matthew.

When Matthew arrived on foot at Ballard High School, he was brought over to Nicholas, who was being held up against a patrol car. RP 308 (Nicholas described by Matthew as held "on the police car" with two officers). Matthew then identified Nicholas as the person who attempted to take his headphones. RP 312, 235-36. Plummer even boasted of engineering the identification procedure. RP 235. ("I kind of got them together").

Nicholas was charged with attempted robbery in the first degree. RCW 9A.28.020; RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(ii); CP 4-6. No gun was recovered; law enforcement officers testified they made no attempt to search for the reported gun in the vicinity. RP 87.

Following a bench trial, Nicholas was convicted as charged. CP 41-47 (court's findings of fact and conclusions of law).

⁵ This out of court statement, made by Matthew at his home, was ultimately stricken as hearsay.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT NICHOLAS COMMITTED AN ATTEMPTED ROBBERY.
 - a. The State is required to prove every essential element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 825, 132 P.3d 725 (2006). An accused person's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. Winship, 397 U.S. at 358; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-35, 225 P.3d 237 (2010).

In order for a court's findings of facts to be sufficient, there must be substantial evidence to support a court's findings. <u>State v.</u> <u>Mewes</u>, 84 Wn. App. 620, 622, 929 P.2d 505 (1997) (citing <u>Rae v.</u>

Konopaski, 2 Wn. App. 92, 95, 467 P.2d 375 (1970)). Where findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence, they are not binding on the reviewing court. See State v. Maxfield, 125 Wn.2d 378, 385, 886 P.2d 123 (1994).

b. The State failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the essential element of identity – indeed, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a crime even occurred.

The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Nicholas was responsible for trying to take Matthew's headphones that day. In fact, due to the lack of consistent evidence, the State did not prove that Matthew was a victim of a crime at all – this was the State's burden, and the State failed to meet it.

First, the State could not explain the conflicting evidence presented by its complaining witness. Matthew's nonchalant behavior was unusual, to say the least, for someone who had reportedly been held up at gunpoint moments earlier. RP 298, 300. Matthew testified that the alleged armed robbery was simply not "a big deal" to him, and that he remained calm throughout. Id.

Matthew also lied during his testimony, when confronted with pronounced inconsistencies in his account of the day's events. RP 315, 328, 331-32, 334-36. Matthew's impeachment with the police video

statement should cause great concern. Even when reminded of his original statement, Matthew refused to acknowledge his more accurate earlier statement. RP 328, 332.⁶

Not only had Matthew insisted on a completely different version of events in his videotaped statement -- his earlier statement had been recorded and relied upon by Detective Bach as the basis for the probable cause statement. CP 5-6. There are glaring inconsistencies between Matthew's testimony at trial and his version of events on January 9th, as given to detectives. Id. (For example, Matthew claimed at the time to have immediately told a friend at about the alleged incident; at trial, Matthew denied telling this friend, although the voice recording was played in open court). These contradictions cannot be explained away by the court's finding that that they are mere "inconsistencies" that are "not material and are explicable with the passage of time." CP 44 (FF 47, 50).

Other inconsistencies in Matthew's testimony indicate a lack of sufficient evidence. For example, Matthew testified that the assailant

⁶ Memories do not improve over time. To the contrary, reactivation of a memory and subsequent recalls can be easily distorted. *See* Donna J. Bridge and Ken Paller, *Neural Correlates of Reactivation and Retrieval-Induced Distortion*, The Journal of Neuroscience 32 (August 29, 2012).

pulled a gun from his pants. RP 321. However, the pants that Nicholas wore that day did not have pockets of sufficient size to hold a firearm. RP 341. These "lounge pants," as Nicholas's father called them, were also too flimsy to support a firearm in the waistband. Id. Nicholas's father also testified that Nicholas is left-handed, which would preclude the version of events depicted by Matthew. RP 341, 320-21 (assailant described as holding gun in right hand).

In addition, although the court found that Matthew "observed the Respondent move his hand back toward the [other] males," there is no support for this finding in the record. CP 43 (FF 28). A review of the record reveals a lack of evidence as to the location of this alleged firearm, if one ever existed.

Second, several of the State's witnesses were biased against Nicholas, which colored their testimony. Ballard High School security guard Plummer was captured on police videotape threatening to "beat the hell out of" Nicholas, a 15 ½ year-old former student. RP 240-43. It was due solely to Plummer's actions that Nicholas was seized and held for identification by Matthew. RP 233, 252-53. In fact, Plummer even told Matthew's mother that there were other incidents going on at the high school, and they could be looking for the same person who

"perpetrated those incidences" in connection with Matthew's complaint." RP 164.

It was no coincidence that Nicholas – a young man that

Plummer was eager to keep away from the high school -- was stopped
and held while Matthew jogged over. RP 240-43 (Plummer had
trespass warrant ready for Nicholas). When Matthew identified

Nicholas, Nicholas had no weapon, but officers did not even bother to
canvas for one. RP 87. This raises the question: what could have been
more important to police officers than getting a firearm off the premises
of a school, if they truly believed one had existed?

Third, the trial court disclosed a prior "close relationship" with the lead detective on the case. RP 187. Detective Scotty Bach, with the Major Crimes Task Force, was the detective in charge of Nicholas's interrogation at the North Precinct on January 9, 2015. RP 193-95. Although defense counsel did not object, Nicholas did not waive any conflict arising from this "close relationship" between the finder of fact and Detective Bach. CJC 2.11(A) (requiring judges to disqualify themselves whenever their impartiality "might reasonably be questioned"); see also Section 2.

⁷ Nicholas was acquitted of the other robbery allegations.

Under a rational view of the evidence analyzed in the light most favorable to the State, this Court should reject the claim that Nicholas was the person who attempted to rob Matthew of his headphones.

Other than walking in the same vicinity as Ballard High School — which is less than a block from his home — the State failed to show Nicholas's participation in this offense. Nicholas did not flee from school security officers or police, even when threatened, and did not have a weapon when arrested. The evidence presented at trial was simply inadequate to prove Nicholas was the person involved in this incident — or indeed, that any incident occurred at all. His conviction, therefore, cannot be sustained. <u>Jackson</u>, 443 U.S. at 318; <u>Winship</u>, 397 U.S. at 364.

c. This Court should reverse because the State failed to prove all essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

Because the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that an attempted robbery occurred, and that Nicholas committed it, the charges should be reversed and dismissed with prejudice.

2. THE FAILURE TO PROVIDE NICHOLAS WITH A TRIAL BY JURY DENIED HIM DUE PROCESS.

Originally, children charged with crimes in Washington were afforded the right to a jury trial. Ch. 18, § 2, 1905 Wash. Laws

(repealed, 1937). This right was taken away when the Legislature determined the primary purpose of juvenile court was rehabilitation and the primary purpose of adult court was accountability. See RCW 13.40 (Juvenile Justice Act of 1977). Washington courts have indicated that should the juvenile system become sufficiently like the adult criminal system, the right to a jury for juveniles should be restored. See, e.g., State v. Lawley, 91 Wn.2d 654, 591 P.2d 772 (1979); Monroe v. Soliz, 132 Wn.2d 414, 939 P.2d 205 (1997); see also Code of 1881, ch. 87, § 1078; State v. Chavez, 163 Wn.2d 262, 274, 180 P.3d 1250 (2008).

Increasingly, the distinction between juvenile and adult court has eroded. Juveniles like Nicholas now face significant consequences from their convictions, including difficulty removing their convictions from their records. Adults are now able to divert and otherwise avoid criminal convictions when they are able to demonstrate their rehabilitation. Because this distinction is now virtually non-existent, this Court should find Nicholas's right to a jury trial was denied and reverse his conviction.

a. Juvenile court provides insufficient protection to justify denying Nicholas his right to a jury trial.

While the stated purposes of the juvenile and adult courts may be different, in many respects, the goals of the adult and juvenile systems have reached similar balances in terms of punishment and rehabilitation. Because Washington's juvenile court system has become more punitive while the adult system has focused upon rehabilitation, Nicholas should have been afforded the right to a jury trial. In re L.M., 286 Kan. 460, 460, 186 P.3d 164 (Kan. 2008)

("Because the Kansas Juvenile Justice Code has become more akin to an adult criminal prosecution, it is held that juveniles henceforth have a constitutional right to a jury trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments."). The failure to provide Nicholas with jury trial rights violated due process and entitles him to a new trial.

i. The advantages of remaining in juvenile court have decreased.

Juveniles like Nicholas increasingly find themselves sentenced much like adults. Juvenile court sentences have been lengthened and the Legislature has added a "clearly too lenient" aggravating factor to allow manifest injustice sentences above the standard range. RCW 13.40.230(2). Although courts nominally distinguish between an "adjudication" and a "conviction," the code makes plain the lack of distinction. See RCW 13.04.011(1) ("[a]djudication" has the same meaning as "conviction" in RCW 9.94A.030, and the "terms must be construed identically and used interchangeably"); see also, In re Det. of

Anderson, ____ Wn.2d ____, 91385-4, 2016 WL 454049, at *2 (Wash. Feb. 4, 2016) (citing RCW 13.40.077 (recommended prosecutorial standards for juvenile court), RCW 13.40.215(5) (school placement for "a convicted juvenile sex offender" who has been released from custody), RCW13.40.480 (release of student records regarding juvenile offenders); RCW 13.50.260(4) (sealing juvenile court records); JuCR 7.12(c)-(d) (criminal history of juvenile offenders).

The consequences of Nicholas's "adjudication" are severe.

Nicholas is required to provide the court with a collection of his personal data. CP 37. He must provide a DNA sample. CP 37. He also submitted to fingerprinting and photographing by the Sheriff upon arrest and again upon disposition. CP 39. There are no provisions which require the Sheriff to ever destroy these records. In fact, no restrictions exist on the dissemination of juvenile records. RCW 10.97.050. Background checks apply equally to adults and to children tried in juvenile court. RCW 43.43.830(6).

Youth who are convicted in juvenile court may be housed in adult prisons. RCW 13.40.280. When the State seeks to transfer a child to an adult prison, it is the child's burden to demonstrate why they should not be transferred. Id. Likewise, juveniles who are tried in

adult court and who enjoy the right to a jury trial, may serve their sentences in a juvenile facility until they are twenty one. RCW 72.01.410.

ii. Adult courts are adopting a more rehabilitative model for offenders.

Meanwhile, our adult courts increasingly act to rehabilitate defendants. Therapeutic court programs have been created with the purpose of rehabilitation, rather than punishment. RCW 2.30.010 ("The legislature further finds that by focusing on the specific individual's needs, providing treatment for the issues presented, and ensuring rapid and appropriate accountability for program violations, therapeutic courts may decrease recidivism, improve the safety of the community, and improve the life of the program participant and the lives of the participant's family members by decreasing the severity and frequency of the specific behavior addressed by the therapeutic court."). Washington now has 83 therapeutic courts. Washington Courts, Drug Courts & Other Therapeutic Courts, available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/court_dir/?fa=court_dir.psc. These courts

are intended to rehabilitate, focusing on addiction, domestic violence, mental health and veterans. Id.⁸

Every rehabilitative program created in juvenile court has an equivalent in adult court. For example, juveniles who are convicted of a sex offense may ask the court for a community based alternative sentence, as can adults. RCW 13.40.160; RCW 9.94A.670. Both juveniles and adults with drug dependency problems may seek drug treatment instead of a standard range sentence. RCW 13.40.0357; RCW 13.40.165. Juveniles may seek diversion and deferred sentences, but adults are increasingly able to seek local pre-filing diversion programs, "agreed orders of continuances," and deferred prosecutions. RCW 13.40.070; RCW 13.40.127; RCW 35.50.255; RCW 3.66.068; RCW 3.50.330; RCW 10.05; see also LEAD, Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion, available at http://leadkingcounty.org/.

Minors and young persons who are tried in adult court with the right to a jury trial have the ability to be sentenced as if they were juveniles, even when jurisdiction lapses. State v. Maynard, 183 Wn.2d 253, 264, 351 P.3d 159 (2015) (remedy caused by ineffective assistance is to remand to adult court for further proceedings in accordance with

⁸ Juveniles may not choose this type of therapeutic court.

the Juvenile Justice Act). Even where a young person over eighteen is prosecuted in adult court, youthfulness is a factor the court may consider in sentencing the person below the standard range. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 688.

b. The Sentencing Reform Act is in conflict with Nicholas's lack of a right to a jury trial.

Increasingly, the Sentencing Reform Act treats juvenile criminal history as seriously as it does convictions which a person receives as an adult. With no right to a jury, juvenile history should not be scored for adult convictions at all. In striking down Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme, the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed the importance of the right to a jury trial where facts are used to impose a more significant punishment. Hurst v. Florida, ____ U.S. ____, 136 S.Ct. 616, 619, 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016).

The Sixth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment require that each element of a crime be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. ____, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 2156, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 (2013); U.S. Const. amend. VI; XIV. Any fact which exposes a person to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's guilty verdict is an "element" that must be submitted to a jury. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 494, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147

L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). This constitutional right has been applied to plea bargains, Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 304, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), sentencing guidelines, United States v.

Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 230, 125 S.Ct. 738, 160 L.Ed.2d 621 (2005), criminal fines, Southern Union Co. v. United States, 567 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 2344, 2357, 183 L.Ed.2d 318 (2012), mandatory minimums, Alleyne, 570 U.S., at ____, 133 S.Ct., at 2166 and capital punishment. Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 608, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002).

While prior convictions do not need to be proven to a jury for sentencing purposes, it is because the underlying facts have already been presented to a jury, except in the case of juvenile's adjudications.

State v. Newlum, 142 Wn. App. 730, 744, 176 P.3d 529 (2008)

("Imposition of an exceptional sentence based solely on a defendant's criminal history does not violate the Sixth Amendment because a defendant's prior conviction must itself have been established through procedures satisfying the fair notice, reasonable doubt, and jury trial guarantees."); see also RCW 9.94A.535.

For Nicholas, this criminal history will score if he is ever convicted of a future offense. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(a). All felony

dispositions in juvenile court shall be counted as criminal history for purposes of adult sentencing, except under the general "wash-out" provisions that apply to adult offenses. <u>Id</u>. Should Nicholas be convicted of a future violent offense, this conviction would "double score," in exactly the same way an adult conviction is considered. RCW 9.94A.525(8). Because no provision exists to "wash-out" his conviction, it will be scored should he be convicted of any other offense during his lifetime. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(a).

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