NO. 74000-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NICHOLAS J. SPRINGFIELD,

Appellant.

FILED
Jul 01, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN P. ERLICK

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JUVENILE COURT'S FINDING THAT SPRINGFIELD COMMITTED THE CRIME CHARGED.

Springfield contends that insufficient evidence supports the juvenile court's finding of guilt because M.S. should not have been found credible. This claim should be rejected. When the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State, as is required in a sufficiency challenge, M.S.'s testimony was indisputably sufficient to support the juvenile court's finding that Springfield was guilty as charged.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires the State to prove every element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). When an appellant claims that there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction, the reviewing court views the evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Viewing the evidence in that light, if any rational trier of fact could have found each element of the

crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then the evidence is sufficient to support the conviction. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Credibility determinations are solely for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574, 70 P.3d 125 (2003).

In order to prove Springfield guilty of attempted robbery in the first degree, the State had to prove that Springfield did an act that was a substantial step toward the commission of robbery in the first degree, with the intent to commit robbery in the first degree. CP 44; RCW 9A.28.020. "A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone." RCW 9A.56.190. A person who is armed with a deadly weapon or displays what appears to be a deadly weapon during a robbery is guilty of robbery in the first degree. RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(i), (ii).

M.S.'s testimony that Springfield pointed a real gun at him and repeatedly demanded his headphones in an angry and threatening voice, if found credible, provided evidence satisfying all the necessary elements of attempted robbery in the first degree.

Tellingly, Springfield does not contend otherwise, nor does he dispute that the juvenile court explicitly found M.S.'s testimony credible. Brief of Appellant at 8-12; CP 43 (Finding 46). Instead, Springfield's argument challenges only the propriety of the juvenile court's finding of credibility. Brief of Appellant at 8-10. However, "a claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence." State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). This rule vitiates Springfield's claim, and bars any relief.

2. RESPONDENTS IN JUVENILE COURT HAVE NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

Springfield contends that the juvenile court system has become sufficiently similar to the adult criminal system that the state and federal constitutional guarantees of jury trials in "criminal prosecutions" now apply to juvenile court proceedings. This exact claim was rejected in 2008 in a supreme court decision—binding on this Court—that Springfield fails to discuss. The similarities Springfield identifies existed when our supreme court rejected this argument in 2008, and the juvenile court system has become even less similar to the adult criminal system since then.

- a. This Court Is Bound By The Supreme Court's Determination That There Is No Constitutional Right To A Jury Trial In Juvenile Court.

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to trial by jury in "criminal prosecutions." U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22. In contrast, the legislature has decreed that cases in the juvenile court system "shall be tried without a jury." RCW 13.04.021(2). Our federal and state supreme courts have repeatedly declined to equate a juvenile court adjudication with a criminal prosecution, and have therefore rejected claims that juvenile court respondents have a constitutional right to trial by jury. McKeiver v. Pennsylvania, 403 U.S. 528, 91 S. Ct. 1976, 29 L. Ed. 2d 647 (1971); State v. Chavez, 163 Wn.2d 262, 180 P.3d 1250 (2008); State v. Schaaf, 109 Wn.2d 1, 743 P.2d 240 (1987); State v. Lawley, 91 Wn.2d 654, 591 P.2d 772 (1979).

Our state supreme court explained in 2008 that "[w]hile punishment is the paramount purpose of the adult criminal system, the policies of the [Juvenile Justice Act ("JJA")] are two-fold: to establish a system of having primary responsibility for, being accountable for, and responding to the needs of youthful offenders; and to hold juveniles accountable for their offenses." Chavez, 163 Wn.2d at 267-68. Chavez argued that recent statutory

amendments made juvenile proceedings for violent and serious violent offenses sufficiently akin to adult criminal prosecutions that he was entitled to a trial by jury. Id. at 269. However, the court noted that “the claim that changes to the juvenile justice system make its focus punitive and no longer rehabilitative has been posited and consistently rejected by this court.” Id.

The Chavez court pointed out that despite the ways in which the juvenile court system has become more like the adult criminal system, it retains its predominantly rehabilitative philosophy and far more lenient penalties, in contrast with the primarily punitive philosophy and more severe penalties of the adult criminal system. Id. at 269-72. This remains true today. Springfield’s adjudication for attempted robbery in the first degree combined with his offender score of zero left him facing a standard range of 15 to 36 weeks (approximately three and a half to eight months) in a Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration facility. RCW 13.40.0357; CP 36. If convicted of the same crime in the adult system, he would have faced a standard range of 23.25 to 30.75 months in an adult prison. RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.595.

After reviewing recent statutory changes, the Chavez court concluded that “while statutory amendments may have arguably

eliminated some distinctions between juvenile and adult criminal systems the juvenile justice system has not been so altered that juveniles charged with violent and serious violent offenses have the right to a jury trial.” Id. at 272. Until our supreme court chooses to revisit Chavez’s holding that there is no constitutional right to jury trial in juvenile court, it remains binding on this Court, and controls the outcome in this case. See State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227 (1984).

- b. Neither The Sentencing Reform Act Nor Recent Caselaw Provides A Basis To Depart From McKeiver And Chavez.

Springfield argues that both the Sentencing Reform Act and recent cases about the scope of the jury trial right in the adult criminal system necessitate a finding that there is now a right to trial by jury in juvenile court. First, he argues that the Sentencing Reform Act’s inclusion of juvenile criminal adjudications in adult’s offender score requires that the right to jury trial be imported into juvenile court. He bases this contention on his assertion that Apprendi’s⁶ rationale for excluding prior convictions from the requirement that facts exposing a defendant to increased punishment be found by a jury applies only to convictions obtained

⁶ Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000).

under the protection of the right to jury trial. Brief of Appellant at 18-20. However, Springfield's argument has already been rejected by our courts. Chavez, 163 Wn.2d at 269; State v. J.H., 96 Wn. App. 167, 175, 978 P.2d 1121 (1999) ("The fact that a juvenile adjudication will be considered as criminal history in a later adult prosecution is not new, and does not determine whether the juvenile proceeding itself so resembles an adult proceeding as to require a jury trial.").

Springfield also argues that under Hurst v. Florida⁷ and Alleyne v. United States,⁸ the Sixth Amendment's right to jury trial must always be interpreted solely by looking at the intent of the framers. Because the criminal court system made no distinction between juveniles and adults at the time the Sixth Amendment was adopted, he concludes that the federal constitutional right to jury trial continues to apply to juveniles today. Brief of Appellant at 22-23.

However, even assuming Springfield's interpretation of Hurst and Alleyne to be correct, the fact that all juveniles and adults

⁷ ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 616, 193 L. Ed. 2d 504 (2016) (holding that Florida system wherein judge makes critical findings needed for imposition of death penalty violates the Sixth Amendment right to jury trial).

⁸ 570 U.S. ___, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013) (holding in adult context that any fact that increases mandatory minimum sentence must be submitted to a jury).

charged with criminal acts in 1789 went through the same “criminal prosecutions” does not mean that the framers would have considered the modern juvenile court system, which was not contemplated at the time, to constitute a “criminal prosecution” within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment. Hurst and Alleyne had nothing to do with juvenile court proceedings, and nothing in those opinions calls into question the conclusions of McKeiver and Chavez that juvenile court adjudications do not constitute “criminal prosecutions.”

Springfield’s parallel argument in the state constitutional context is even less well founded. He cites State v. Smith⁹ for the proposition that the scope of the jury trial right must be determined based on the right as it existed at the time the state constitution was adopted, and concludes again that because juveniles were treated like adults at that point in our history, they retain the right to trial by jury. Brief of Appellant at 23-26. Not only does Smith, like Hurst and Alleyne, say nothing about the juvenile court system, but it pre-dates Chavez by five years. State v. Smith, 150 Wn.2d 135,

⁹ 150 Wn.2d 135, 75 P.3d 934 (2003) (holding state constitution does not require that prior convictions be proved to the jury in part because jury had no role in sentencing when constitution was enacted).

135, 75 P.3d 934 (2003). It thus supplies no basis for concluding that Chavez is no longer good law.

- c. There Have Been No Changes To The Juvenile Justice Act Since Chavez That Would Justify The Conclusion That A Right To Jury Trial Now Exists.

Even if this Court had the authority to depart from Chavez based on changed circumstances, Springfield has not identified a single way in which the juvenile court system has become significantly more similar to the adult criminal system since Chavez was decided in March 2008. His brief lists numerous ways in which, Springfield contends, “Washington’s juvenile court system has become more punitive while the adult system has focused [more] upon rehabilitation,” yet every single example he identifies was already in effect prior to Chavez. Appendix A.¹⁰

Moreover, in the years since Chavez was decided, laws regarding the vacation and sealing of juvenile criminal records have become more protective of juvenile respondents’ interest in eventual relief from the stigma of their crimes. In 2014, the legislature enacted RCW 13.50.260 to provide for the automatic sealing of many juvenile court cases upon the respondent’s 18th

¹⁰ Appendix A contains a list of the examples identified by Springfield, and corresponding authority showing that the relevant provision was already in effect prior to Chavez.

birthday, and to require courts to seal even juvenile adjudications for class A felonies upon request when certain conditions have been met, departing even further from the adult model. Laws of 2014, ch. 175, § 4.

The only juvenile offenses that can never be sealed are rape in the first or second degree and indecent liberties that was actually committed with forcible compulsion. RCW 13.50.260(4)(a)(v). In contrast, adult convictions for violent offenses (which includes all completed and attempted class A felonies, such as Springfield's offense of attempted robbery in the first degree) and crimes against persons can never be vacated. RCW 9.94A.640(2); RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(i); RCW 9A.56.200(2). The juvenile court system thus now provides far more protection for juveniles from the stigma of a criminal adjudication than does the adult system, rendering the juvenile court system even less similar to the adult criminal system than at the time of Chavez. This reinforces Chavez's conclusion that the juvenile court system yet retains its core rehabilitative purpose, making the constitution right to trial by jury inapplicable.

This Court remains bound by the holding of Chavez. But even if this Court were free to reexamine that holding, there would be no basis to conclude that the juvenile court system has grown



sufficiently similar to the adult criminal system since 2008 to entitle juvenile court respondents to trial by jury.